

**ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 17, ARTICLE III OF THE
DURHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES**

WHEREAS, the North Carolina Legislature has, through Article 3 of Chapter 130A of the North Carolina General Statutes, authorized local governments to adopt and enforce ordinances, board of health rules, and policies restricting or prohibiting smoking that are more restrictive than State law and that apply in local government buildings, on local government Grounds, in local government vehicles, or in public places; and

Formatted: No underline

WHEREAS, the Commissioners of the County of Durham enacted a Smoking Pollution Control Ordinance in 1993 to regulate smoking in certain areas of the County; and

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners wishes to amend the Smoking Pollution Control Ordinance to address concerns of the public health safety and welfare.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR THE COUNTY OF DURHAM DOTH ORDAIN:

Chapter 17, Article III of the Durham County Code of Ordinances Section 17-121 through 130 is hereby amended as follows:

Section 17-121. Purpose.

The Board of Commissioners finds and declares that the purpose of this ordinance is to protect and promote the public health and safety of the citizens of Durham County by

controlling and limiting the smoking of tobacco in specific public places and places of employment as hereinafter set forth. The Board of Commissioners intends that the restrictions and limitations of this ordinance be viewed as minimum standards, and should not be construed as limiting in any way the authority of persons in control of a public place or place of employment from prohibiting smoking within their establishment altogether.

Section 17-122. Definitions.

The following words and phrases, whenever used in this ordinance, shall be construed as defined in this section:

(a) **BAR** means an area comprising fifteen (15) feet or less from the perimeter of a permanent counter which is primarily devoted to serving alcoholic beverages and within which the service of food is only incidental to the consumption of such beverages. Although a restaurant may contain a bar, the term "bar" shall not include the restaurant/dining area. The Board of Commissioners (or its designee) may extend the fifteen (15) foot limitation to encompass a larger area upon a demonstration by the owner of an establishment that such area is primarily devoted to the serving of alcoholic beverages (such as a bar room, cocktail lounge or similar facility) and the service of food is only incidental to the consumption of such beverages.

(b) **BUSINESS** means any sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or other business formed for profit or non profit making purposes, as well as professional corporations and other entities where professional services are delivered.

(c) **CHILD CARE FACILITY** means any licensed nursery, daycare center, preschool, or other facility engaged in the practice of providing care for children.

(d) **EMPLOYEE** means any person who is employed by any employer in consideration for monetary compensation or profit.

(e) **EMPLOYER** means any person, partnership or corporation, including municipal corporation or non-profit entity who employs the services of any person(s).

(f) **NON-PROFIT ENTITY** means any corporation, unincorporated association or other entity created for charitable, philanthropic, educational, character building, political, social or other similar purposes, the net proceeds from the operations of which are committed to the promotion of the objects or purposes of the organization and not to private financial gain.

(g) **NON-SMOKING AREA** means an area in which smoking is prohibited.

(h) **PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT** means any enclosed area under the control of a public or private employer which employees normally

frequent during the course of employment, including, but not limited to, work areas, employee lounges, restrooms, conference rooms, employee cafeterias, and hallways. A private residence is not a place of employment.

(i) **PUBLIC AREA/PLACE** means any area to which the public is invited or in which the public is permitted. A private residence is not a public place.

Deleted: enclosed

(j) **RESTAURANT** means a food and lodging establishment that prepares and serves drink or food as regulated by State and local laws.

Deleted: any coffee shop, cafeteria, sandwich stand, private and public school cafeteria, and any other eating establishment which gives or offers for sale food to the public, guests, or employees, except that the term "restaurant" shall not include a cocktail lounge or tavern if said cocktail lounge or tavern is a "bar" as defined in Section 2.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(k) **RETAIL STORE** means any sole proprietorship, partnership, joint venture, corporation or other business entity where goods or services are sold.

(l) **SERVICE LINE** means any indoor line at which one (1) or more persons are waiting for or receiving service of any kind, whether or not such service involves the exchange of money.

(n) **SPORTS ARENA** means sports pavilions, gymnasiums, health spas, swimming pools, and other similar public places where members of the general public assemble either to engage in physical exercise, participate in athletic competition, or witness sports events.

Deleted: (m) **SMOKING** means inhaling, exhaling, burning or carrying any lighted cigar, cigarette, or other combustible tobacco product in any manner or in any form.

Deleted: enclosed

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

(o) **VIOLATION** means the failure by any business, employer, non-profit entity, restaurant or retail store to comply with any section of this article.

(p) **BUS STOP** means a designated area, whether enclosed or unenclosed, where buses stop for passengers to board or exit a bus. This term shall include areas at bus stops and bus shelters, beginning at the bus stop sign or at either edge of the bus shelter and extending the length of the bus.

(q) **CITY OF DURHAM GROUNDS** means an unenclosed area owned, leased, or occupied by the City of Durham. For purposes of this rule, this term does not include those Grounds located in the City of Durham Parks System except those areas which are further specified and defined by this rule.

(r) **CITY OF DURHAM PARKS SYSTEM ATHLETIC FIELD** means any enclosed or unenclosed area owned, leased, or occupied by the City of Durham that is part of the City of Durham Parks System and used for playing outdoor games, including but not limited to, baseball, basketball, tennis, football, and soccer. For purposes of this ordinance, this term shall include the entire playing area and the unenclosed area which extends 150 feet from all outside edges of the playing area, including but not limited to spectator areas or stands, concession stands, and team benches.

Deleted: Nothing in this article shall be interpreted as requiring an employer, restaurant or retail store owner or any other person in charge of a place wherein smoking is regulated to be responsible for enforcing any provision of this article.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0.56", Line spacing: Double, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 16 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

(s) CITY OF DURHAM PARK SYSTEM PLAYGROUND means an enclosed or unenclosed area owned, leased, or occupied by the City of Durham that is part of the City of Durham Parks System and generally contains play equipment such as slides and swings and is used for recreation or play. For purposes of this ordinance, this term shall include the entire recreation area and the unenclosed area which extends 150 feet from all outside edges of the recreation area.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

(t) CITY OR COUNTY BUS STOPS means any bus stop that is owned, leased, or occupied by the City or County of Durham.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

(u) DURHAM COUNTY GROUNDS means any unenclosed area owned, leased, or occupied by Durham County.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

(v) DURHAM STATION TRANSPORTATION CENTER means the buildings and unenclosed areas owned, leased or occupied by the City of Durham that are used as the hub and home of local, regional, and intercity bus service.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

(w) ENCLOSED AREA means an area with a roof or other overhead covering of any kind and walls or side coverings of any kind, regardless of the presence of openings for ingress and egress, on all sides or on all sides but one.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

(x) HOSPITAL GROUNDS means any unenclosed area, which is owned, leased, or occupied by an institution that is licensed to administer medical treatment or the primary function of which is

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

to provide medical treatment in this State and which provides inpatient, outpatient, and emergency medical treatment.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(y) SIDEWALK means any sidewalk that is owned, leased, or occupied by the City or County of Durham and abuts Durham County Grounds, the City of Durham Grounds, Hospital Grounds or Durham Technical Community College Grounds.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

(z) SMOKING means the use or possession of a lighted cigarette, lighted cigar, lighted pipe, or any other lighted tobacco product.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(aa) TOBACCO USE means the use of any product containing tobacco.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Auto

(bb) NO SMOKING SYMBOL means a symbol consisting of a pictorial representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a circle with a bar across it.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Auto

(cc) PRIVATE CLUB means a country club or an organization that maintains selective members, is operated by the membership, does not provide food or lodging for pay to anyone who is not a member or a member's guest, and is either incorporated as a nonprofit corporation in accordance with Chapter 55A of the General Statutes or is exempt from federal income tax under the internal revenue code as defined in G.S. 105-130.2(1).

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Auto

(dd) TOBACCO SHOP means a business establishment, the main purpose of which is the sale of tobacco, tobacco products, and accessories for such products, that receive no less than

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

seventy-five (75%) of its total annual revenues from the sale of tobacco, tobacco products, and accessories for such products, and does not serve food or alcohol on its premises.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(ee) CIGAR BAR means an establishment with a permit to sell alcoholic beverages pursuant to subdivision (1), (3), (5) or (10) of G.S. 18B-1001 that satisfies all of the following:

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

a. Generates sixty percent (60%) or more of its quarterly gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages and twenty-five percent (25%) or more of its quarterly gross revenue from the sale of cigars;

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

b. Has a humidor on the premises; and

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

c. Does not allow individuals under the age of 21 to enter the premises.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Revenue generated from other tobacco sales, including cigarette vending machines, shall not be used to determine whether an establishment satisfies the definition of cigar bar.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold, Font color: Auto

Section 17-123. Smoking Prohibited in Specified Public Places.

(a) Except as otherwise provided, smoking shall be prohibited in the following places:

(1) Child Care Facilities.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

- (2) Enclosed shopping malls.
- (3) Elevators.
- (4) Grocery Stores.
- (5) Polling Places.
- (6) Public restrooms.
- (7) Public areas of retail stores.
- (8) Service lines.
- (9) Public forms of transportation including but not limited to buses, vans and taxicabs.
- (10) Public areas of galleries, libraries and museums which are open to the public.
- (11) Seating areas and adjacent aisles of any building not open to the sky which is primarily used for exhibiting any motion picture, stage drama, lecture, musical recital or similar performance except when smoking is part of a stage production.
- (12) Seating areas and adjacent aisles of enclosed sports arenas and convention halls.
- (13) All rooms, chambers, place of meeting or public assembly under control of the County or any other political subdivision of the state during such time as a public meeting is in progress, to the

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

extent such place is subject to the jurisdiction of the County;

(14) Lobbies, hallways and other common areas in apartment buildings, condominiums, retirement facilities, nursing homes and other multiple-unit residential facilities.

(15) All buildings owned by the county and in all buildings and portions thereof leased by the county.

(16) All buildings owned by Durham Technical Community College and all buildings and portions thereof leased by Durham Technical Community College.

(17) City of Durham Grounds.

(18) City of Durham Parks System Athletic Fields.

(19) City of Durham Parks System Playgrounds.

(20) City or County Bus Stops.

(21) Durham County Grounds.

(22) Durham Station Transportation Center. (23)

Sidewalks. (24) All County of Durham Human Services Facilities and Campus.

(b) Nothing in this article shall be interpreted as limiting or prohibiting the right of an owner or lessee of any building, including the county, from designating the

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Indent: Hanging: 0.5", Line spacing: Double, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 1.25" + Indent at: 1.5"

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

building or a portion thereof as a nonsmoking building or establishment.

Section 17-124. Reserved

Deleted: Smoking in Restaurants.
Formatted: Font: Bold

Section 17-125. Reserved.

Deleted: The owner of every restaurant with an indoor seating capacity of thirty seats or more shall designate a non-smoking area, consisting of at least thirty-three and one third per cent (33 1/3%) of the indoor seating capacity of the restaurant. The seating capacity of any bar or lounge, if it also serves as a dining area of an eating establishment, shall be included in the calculation of the total capacity of the eating establishment.

Section 17-126. Smoking in Places of Employment.

A. Employers within the County limits that are not specifically regulated by this ordinance shall be responsible for providing smoke-free areas for nonsmoking employees within existing facilities, and to the maximum extent possible, separating nonsmoking employees from smoking employees. However, employers are not required to incur any expense to make structural or other physical modifications in providing these areas.

Deleted: Smoking in Bars and Small Restaurants.
Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: All bars and restaurants which have a seating capacity of less than thirty (30) shall post one of the following signs at every entrance notifying patrons of their smoking policy: "We Do Not Provide A Nonsmoking Section", "Nonsmoking Section Available", or "No Smoking".

Formatted: Font: Bold

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, every employer shall have the right to designate any place of employment as a nonsmoking establishment.

Section 17-127. Sale of Cigarettes to Minors.

Deleted: ¶

Any retail store that offers cigarettes for sale shall post a conspicuous 5" x 7" sign stating "The sale of cigarettes to minors under the age of 18 years is a misdemeanor. (G.S. 14-313)".

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

Section 17-128. Posting of Signs Required.

The signs required by this Ordinance must:

(a) State in English and Spanish that smoking is prohibited and include the "No Smoking" symbol.

(b) Be of sufficient size to be clearly legible to a person of normal vision.

(c) Be posted on Durham County and the City of Durham Grounds including the City of Durham Parks System Playgrounds and Athletic Fields in locations and at intervals reasonably calculated to inform the employees and the public of the prohibition.

(d) Be posted on Sidewalks at intervals so as to reasonably inform the public of the prohibition.

(f) Be posted in the Durham Station Transportation Center in locations and at intervals reasonably calculated to inform the public and employees of the prohibition.

(g) Be posted on city or county bus stops in areas visible to the public.

Section 17-128.1. Required Actions to Implementation.

The City and/or County shall:

(1) Educate the public about the ordinance and the reasons for the new ordinance prior to its implementation date

Deleted: "No Smoking", or other signs relating to an establishment's smoking policy, whichever are appropriate, with letters of not less than one inch in height or the international "No Smoking" symbol (consisting of a pictorial representation of a burning cigarette enclosed in a red circle with a red bar across it) shall be clearly, sufficiently and conspicuously posted in every building or other place where smoking is regulated by this article, by the owner, operator, manager or other person having control of such building or other place. No person shall remove or deface any sign required to be posted by or under the authority of this article.

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: First line: 0.5", Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Line spacing: Double, No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

through the news media, website, and educational media.

This education shall include information on resources for quitting smoking or tobacco use, including information about the free quitting support services of the North Carolina Tobacco Use Quitline (1-800-QUIT-NOW (1-800-784-8669)).

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, Bold, Not Highlight

(2) Educate the employees of city and county facilities covered under this ordinance about this ordinance, the reasons for this ordinance, and how employees can assist with compliance prior to its implementation date. The city and county shall also provide the city and county employees with resources for quitting smoking or tobacco use, including information about the free quitting support services of the North Carolina Tobacco Use Quitline (1-800-QUIT-NOW (1-800-784-8669)).

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Justified, Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

(3) Post Signs that meet all the requirements of Section 17-28 in places and locations deemed sufficient to effectuate the purposes of this ordinance.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

(4) Remove all ashtrays and other smoking receptacles from the Durham Station Transportation Center; the City of Durham Grounds; Durham County Grounds; the City of Durham Parks System Athletic Fields and Playgrounds; City or county bus stops; and Sidewalks.

(5) Have the person in charge of Durham County Grounds; the City of Durham Grounds; the City of Durham Parks System; City or County Bus Stops; the Durham Station Transportation Center; or Sidewalks direct a person who is smoking in a prohibited area to cease and, if the person does not comply, contact the City of Durham Police Department or the Durham County Sheriff's Department.

Section 17-128.2. Public Education.

Durham County and the City of Durham shall engage in a continuing program to explain and clarify the purposes and requirements of this ordinance to citizens affected by it and to City or County employees in their compliance with it. In doing so, the County and City may rely upon materials and information provided by the Durham County Health Department

Section 17-129. Enforcement and Penalties.

(a) The proprietor, employer, or other person in charge of a public place of employment where smoking is regulated shall make reasonable efforts to prevent smoking in nonsmoking areas.

(b) v

Following oral or written notice by the person in charge of a public place of employment where smoking is regulated; Durham County Grounds; the City of Durham Grounds; the City of Durham Parks System; city or county bus stops; the Durham Station Transportation Center; or Sidewalks, or his or her designee,

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Deleted: Any person who violates any provision of this article shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall upon conviction be punished as provided in section 1-6.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

failure to cease smoking constitutes an infraction punishable by a fine of not more than fifty dollars (\$50.00). A citation may be issued by a sworn law enforcement officer. Conviction of an infraction under this section has no consequence other than payment of a penalty, and no court costs may be assessed. Notwithstanding G.S. 130A-25 or any other provision of law, a violation of this ordinance shall not be punishable as a misdemeanor.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Section 17-130. Exclusions.

The following areas shall not be subject to the restrictions of this article.

(1) Private residences.

(2) Private vehicles

(3) A tobacco shop if smoke from the business does not migrate into an enclosed area where smoking is prohibited pursuant to State law.

Deleted: <#>Restaurants (or any separate room or section), hotel rooms, conference or meeting rooms and public transportation vehicles while they are being rented for private functions.¶

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

(4) All of the premises, facilities, and vehicles owned, operated, or leased by any tobacco products processor or manufacturer, or any tobacco leaf grower, processor, or dealer.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(5) A designated smoking guest room in a lodging establishment. No greater than twenty percent (20%) of a lodging establishment's guest rooms may be designated smoking guest rooms.

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt

(6) A cigar bar if smoke from the cigar does not migrate into an enclosed area where smoking is prohibited pursuant to State law.

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

(7) A private club as defined by State law.

Formatted: Font: Bold

(8) A motion picture, television, theater, or other live production set. This exemption applies only to the actor or performer portraying the use of tobacco products during the production.

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Bold

(9) State and Federal facilities.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New

Effective Date.

This ordinance shall be effective _____, 2011.

DURHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Deleted: ¶

Chairman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Courier New, 12 pt